FILED 06-14-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

NICOLE MCDANIEL, DAVID SMITH, AND MATTHEW DAVIS,

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

υ.

Appeal No. 2022AP001759

Cir. Ct. No. 2020cv004571

WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS,

Defendant-Appellee.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Timothy W. Burns State Bar No.: 1068086 BURNS BAIR LLP 10 East Doty Street, Suite 600 Madison, Wisconsin 53703 tburns@burnsbair.com

Christopher D. Stombaugh State Bar No.: 1022065 DICELLO LEVITT LLP Post Office Box 437 Platteville, Wisconsin 53818 Tel.: 440-953-8888 cstombaugh@dicellolevitt.com

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the Wisconsin Court of Appeals err by applying an unprecedented and excessively demanding pleading standard when deciding a motion for class certification, effectively treating it as a motion for summary judgment?

Plaintiffs are a putative class of corrections officers seeking compensation for pre- and post-shift activities, such as passing through required security screenings prior to their shifts and donning and doffing equipment used during their shifts. Whether such pre- and post-shift work is compensable requires a factual inquiry into the nature of the work undertaken by corrections officers and into whether the pre- and post-shift activities are fundamentally integral to that work. If the pre-and post-shift activities are "integral" to the principal work that the corrections officers were hired to do, then the activities are compensable. The Circuit Court ruled that because approximately 99% of the corrections officers experience the same policy of non-compensation for the same required noncompensated activities, Plaintiffs had, "by a preponderance of the evidence," made a "factual showing" that the requirements for class certification had been met.

The Court of Appeals reversed the Circuit Court's ruling, stating that "the activities on which McDaniel bases her motion for class certification are noncompensable." The Court of Appeals based its ruling entirely on its finding that the security screenings that corrections officers are required to undergo prior to and after every work shift were "not integral and indispensable to [the corrections officers'] principal activities" (It ignored the other pre-shift and post-shift activities described in the Complaint and motion for class certification, such as officer responsibilities to respond to threats even prior to passing through security, and their need to don and doff equipment). This factual *conclusion* was not only incorrect—many other courts have found that corrections officers' pre-shift activities, *including* security screenings, are compensable—but is an issue for trial, *not* class certification. *See Amgen Inc. v. Connecticut Ret. Plans & Tr. Funds* 568 U.S. 455, 459 (2013) (class certification "requires a showing that *questions* common to the class predominate, not that those questions will be answered, on the merits, in favor of the class."); *United Food & Com. Workers Union, Loc. 1473 v. Hormel Foods Corp.*, 2016 WI 13, ¶ 70 ("[s]imply put, the donning and doffing cases are fact dependent.")

2. Did the Wisconsin Court of Appeals err when it ruled, contrary to many state and federal courts around the country, that the corrections officers cannot be compensated for pre-shift and post-shift activities such as security screenings?

The Circuit Court ruled Plaintiffs had shown "by a preponderance of the evidence . . . that the requirements for certification are met," such that the evidence showed that "some combination of undergoing a security screening and being in the right place at the proper time are essential for corrections officers." By contrast, the Court of Appeals, without substantive discussion of the record, erroneously *concluded* that security screenings are not "integral and indispensable" to work done by the Wisconsin corrections officers. In addition to being a factual conclusion that should not have been drawn at the class certification stage, the

conclusion itself was incorrect and against the heavy weight of authority.

The record, in addition to basic logic, demonstrates that security screenings are vital to a corrections officer's job of maintaining a secure and safe environment and the other pre- and post-shift activities, such as donning required equipment, providing briefings to those relieving the officers, and otherwise remaining vigilant on arrival at the facility, are likewise vital to the work. Unsurprisingly, the Court of Appeals' conclusion is against the heavy weight of authority: federal and state courts across the United States—including multiple appellate courts—have explained that security screenings and correctional officers' other pre- and postshift work are fundamentally integral to their jobs and are thus compensable.

STATEMENT OF CRITERIA FOR GRANTING REVIEW

The Court of Appeals' decision contravenes settled law, Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r)(d), and raises, by its nature, legal issues "of the type that [are] likely to recur unless resolved by the supreme court." Wis. Stat. § 809(1r)(d). In short, the Court of Appeals misapprehends the factual inquiry appropriate in a class certification motion and, in so doing, risks widespread confusion on all future class action cases in Wisconsin. Simultaneously, the conclusion that the Court of Appeals (erroneously) drew regarding the nature of "work" will reverberate across all so-called donning and doffing cases in the State.

Plaintiffs and other class members are all corrections officers with strict eight-hour shifts who seek to be paid for pre- and post-shift activities. All Plaintiffs do the same or substantially similar work, and all Plaintiffs engage in the same or substantially the same pre- and post-shift activities.

The legal *question* to be answered regarding whether those pre- and postshift activities are compensable is well-settled: if those pre- and post-shift activities are, by their nature, "integral" to Wisconsin Department of Corrections officers' shift work, then those activities are compensable. If the pre- and post-shift activities are not "integral," they are not compensable. *See Integrity Staffing Solutions, Inc. v. Busk*, 574 U.S. 27, 36 (2014).

In other words, the existence of a common *question* subject to common proof is not in dispute. What could, in theory, be disputed is the *answer* to that question: *i.e.*, whether discovery confirms that activities like vigilance upon arrival

at the facility, security screenings, and the donning of required equipment are "integral" to the core duties on shift. As the Wisconsin Supreme Court succinctly ruled, "[s]imply put, the donning and doffing cases are fact dependent." *United Food & Com. Workers Union, Loc. 1473 v. Hormel Foods Corp.*, 2016 WI 13, ¶ 70.

The Circuit Court accordingly certified the class. As the United States Supreme Court explained in *Amgen Inc. v. Connecticut Ret. Plans & Tr. Funds*, class certification "requires a showing that *questions* common to the class predominate, not that those questions will be answered, on the merits, in favor of the class." 568 U.S. 455, 459 (2013). In other words, "[w]hen, as here, the concern about the proposed class is not that it exhibits some fatal dissimilarity but, rather, a fatal similarity—an alleged failure of proof as to an element of the plaintiffs' cause of action—courts should engage that question as a matter of summary judgment, not class certification." *Tyson Foods, Inc. v. Bouaphakeo*, 577 U.S. 442, 457 (2016) (internal citation omitted).

Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals *answered* the common questions. It ruled that the Plaintiffs' alleged pre- and post-shift activities were, by their nature, non-compensable because, in the Court of Appeals' view, those activities were not, by their nature, "integral" to the Plaintiffs' jobs as corrections officers. However, the determination of whether activities are integral (or not) required a probing factual analysis of the nature of the activities undertaken during a shift and the relationship between those shift activities and the pre- and post-shift activities. That probing inquiry is one the Circuit Court correctly refused to undertake prior to summary judgment, but which the Court of Appeals improperly undertook in its review of the Circuit Court's class certification grant.

The Court of Appeals' conclusion was also wrong on the merits. Security screenings are clearly "integral" to corrections officers' work *securing* prisons, as are the *other* pre- and post-shift activities alleged at class certification, such as the vigilance upon arrival even prior to passing through security, the donning and doffing of essential equipment, and the creation of required post-shift briefings. As a result, most courts across the United States that have considered the same pre- and post-shift activities respecting corrections officers have determined that the activities are compensable (or, at least, have recognized that a trier of fact must make that ultimate determination).

In concluding otherwise, the Court of Appeals decision renders Wisconsin an outlier. If passing through security in order to vigilantly protect the integrity of a prison is not "integral" to a corrections officer's work, then it is difficult to imagine pre- and post-shift work in any context that could suffice under the Court of Appeals' standard. Such an extreme result is contrary to settled law, Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r)(d).

I. INTRODUCTION

Plaintiffs Nicole McDaniel, David Smith, and Matthew Davis (collectively, "Plaintiffs") are corrections officers¹ seeking to certify a class for two claims: (1) violation of Wis Stat §§109.01-0303, which guarantees employees the right to be paid for compensable work; and (2) a declaratory judgment that adjudicates the class's right to be paid for all such future compensable work. All members of the class do the same or substantially the same work. The central issue in the case is clear: the corrections officers are paid as though they work strict eight-hour shifts, but they, in fact, engage in pre- and post-shift work that exceeds those eight hours and which, they contend, should be compensable.

Pre-shift work includes, among other things, remaining vigilant as soon as they enter the prison facility, passing through a substantial security screening, receiving a visual inspection from supervisors to ensure they are fit for duty and displaying required ID, gathering and doffing a host of tools relating to their work (including, e.g., handcuffs, keys, radios, pepper spray), proceeding through gates into the security envelope of the prison and then onward to their posts, and receiving a briefing from the corrections officers they relieve detailing responsibilities and updates regarding the shift. Post-shift duties include providing pass-down briefings to those relieving them of their guard duties, returning equipment, and exiting back through security.

¹ "Corrections officers" are sometimes colloquially referred to as "prison guards."

In Wisconsin, as in the rest of the United States, whether pre- and post-shift work is compensable requires an answer to the following fact-bound question: if the activity is a "duty that cannot be dispensed with, remitted, set aside, disregarded, or neglected," *Integrity Staffing Sols., Inc. v. Busk*, 574 U.S. 27, 33 (2014), then it is sufficiently "integral" to the work as to require compensation and will trigger a "continuous workday," 29 C.F.R. § 790.6(a), making all subsequent activities compensable until the employee has performed the final "integral" task. If it is not "integral" and "indispensable," then the pre- and post-shift activities are not compensable.

The inquiry is a *factual* one: whether an activity is "integral" requires a detailed analysis of the nature of the work involved (even if the indispensable nature of security checks for prison guard work *should* be self-evident). As the Wisconsin Supreme Court recently explained while interpreting *Integrity Staffing*: "Simply put, the donning and doffing cases are fact dependent." *United Food & Com. Workers Union, Loc. 1473 v. Hormel Foods Corp.,* 2016 WI 13, ¶ 70.

But when must that factually-dependent analysis take place? The Circuit Court did not have a motion for summary judgment before it; it had a motion for class certification. When a court is determining whether a class may be certified, its role is *not* to decide, as a final matter, whether the certified class will ultimately be successful on the merits. Instead, it must rule whether there exist common *questions* that, if resolved in the class's favor, will merit class-wide relief.

2

Here, the existence of such common questions is not in reasonable dispute: if the class members are able to show, *as a factual matter*, that the pre- and postshift activities are indispensable to their work as correctional officers, they should be entitled to relief. If they cannot show as much, they will not receive relief. The result will be the same *across the entire class*, a fact the Court of Appeals itself acknowledged in its across-the-board reversal.

Plaintiffs presented evidence, including testimony from the Wisconsin Department of Corrections' head of security, indicating that the pre-and post-shift activities—including responsibilities that exist from the moment Plaintiffs enter the facility and even prior to their passing through security—were "absolutely necessary" for the officers to do their jobs, triggering their continuous workday.

Defendant—incredibly, and contradicting its own employee—disagrees. The ultimate resolution of the fact-bound issue of whether pre- and post-shift activities are, indeed, indispensable to correctional officers' work must be adjudicated by the trier of fact, most likely at trial.

What the Court of Appeals did, instead, was erroneously take upon itself, at the class certification stage, the responsibility for making the ultimate determination on the disputed factual issue. Citing out-of-state precedent and without substantial discussion, the Court of Appeals declined to discuss several of the pre-and post-shift activities in which the guards engaged and ruled that, as a matter of fact and law, the correctional officers' security checks were fundamentally unrelated to their principal job guarding and securing the prisons. While the Court of Appeals' conclusion regarding the non-shift activities was clearly erroneous—it ignored a host of pre- and post-shift activities, and security screenings are self-evidently integral to corrections officers' work—the fact-finding should never have occurred.

As the United States Supreme Court has explained, class certification "requires a showing that *questions* common to the class predominate, not that those questions will be answered, on the merits, in favor of the class." *Amgen*, 568 U.S. at 459 (emphasis in original). The Court of Appeals ignored this admonition and *answered* the reasonably disputed factual question in Defendant's favor.

But by resolving a reasonably disputed factual issue at class certification and by ignoring that there exist common questions, the resolution of which would allow for common class-wide relief, the Court of Appeals raised the standard for class certification in Wisconsin above any other jurisdiction in the United States.

Compounding the problem, the ultimate conclusion the Court of Appeals reached was wrong and against the weight of authority. Security checks and other pre- and post-shift activities are clearly integral to corrections officers' work protecting prisons. Indeed, most courts across the United States considering whether corrections officers may be compensated for the pre- and post-shift work activities described in the Complaint have concluded and confirmed that activities such as security screenings are vital to the corrections officers' work keeping prisons *secure*. These decisions are important not only with respect to corrections officers' work but for *any* work for which pre- and post-shift activity may be demanded. If pre-shift security screenings are fundamentally non-compensable in Wisconsin for corrections officers, then it is hard to imagine much (if any) pre- and post-shift work in Wisconsin that would be compensable in any context.

In short, the Court of Appeals' decision will reverberate across Wisconsin's legal landscape in at least two ways. First, the decision stands for the incorrect proposition that a court should make ultimate factual conclusions at class certification rather than limit itself to determining whether there exist *questions* common to the class. Second, the decision represents a fundamental misinterpretation of the law regarding so-called "donning and doffing" cases and would make it difficult for *any* such cases to exist in Wisconsin—detrimentally affecting large swaths of Wisconsin's labor force, including the thousands of corrections officers whose ability to recover wages owed to them hinges on certification of the prospective Class.

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS AND THE CASE

A. Plaintiffs file their class complaint, and the Circuit Court certifies the class.

Plaintiffs are Wisconsin Department of Corrections ("WDC") officers seeking compensation for time spent working before and after their official shifts.

The Circuit Court summarized the relevant facts—none of which are in dispute here—as follows:²

Despite the fact that shifts are hard and fast 8 hours and WDC employees are only paid for those 8 hours, some workers spend

² "S-App. at ____" refers to the Plaintiffs-Appellants' Appendix before this Court.

around 3 minutes a day doing pre- and post-shift activities, while others can spend up to 30 minutes a day... It is alleged that "99%" or "the vast majority" of class members engage in these pre- and postshift activities. McDaniel has presented testimony that confirms that it is state policy that WDC employees are not compensated for preand post-shift activities. The pre-shift activities include:

- Correctional Officers must pass bags containing their belongings through x-ray machines which scan for possible contraband that may not be brought into prisons for security reasons.
- When Correctional Officers report for duty, their supervisors check them off on a daily duty roster and tell them their post assignments if they do not already know those.
- Supervisors visually inspect Correctional Officers to ensure that they are fit for duty, not under the influence of intoxicants, in uniform, and displaying their ID cards.
- Correctional Officers then proceed through gates, sometimes called "sally ports," into the security envelope at the prisons.
- Correctional Officers obtain equipment, such as handcuffs, keys, radios, and OC pepper spray, essential to perform their principal duty to protect prison personnel and visitors, maintain security, guard and escort prisoners, respond to emergencies, communicate with prison personnel, and otherwise function as Correctional Officers.

Post-shift activities include:

- Correctional officers may not leave their assigned posts until relieved by the Correctional Officers scheduled to work the next shift.
- Correctional Officers provide pass-down briefings to those individuals.
- Correctional Officers then walk to exit the security envelop through the gates or sally ports that were used to enter it. At

that point, the Correctional Officers generally return the keys and other equipment that had been issued to them and pick up their personal belongings. Correctional Officers are responsible for that equipment until it has been returned and may be disciplined if they fail to protect it.

WDC employees are *required* to complete all pre-shift activities prior to starting their shift but are only compensated for the 8-hour shift. Similarly, employees are not compensated for post-shift times. WDC employees are also expected to be ready to respond to emergencies at any point in their shifts, as well as during these pre- and post-shift activities. Essentially, WDC employees have at least some degree of responsibility from the moment they enter a facility.³

Plaintiffs filed their Complaint on August 3, 2020, and, following two amendments, moved for class certification on July 30, 2021. The Circuit Court granted their class certification motion on September 29, 2022.

Recognizing that a "class certification motion is not a 'dress rehearsal' for the merits of the case,"⁴ the Circuit Court ruled that "[w]hat matters is that the plaintiff, by a preponderance of the evidence, shows that the requirements for certification are met."⁵ The Circuit Court reasoned that "[i]t is at least plausible that some combination of undergoing a security screening and being in the right place at the proper time are essential for corrections officers." *Id.* It also noted that Plaintiffs supported their argument that "employees can indeed be compensated for all time which they are on duty and on the premises" (*i.e.*, even before technically passing through security, corrections officers begin their workday

³ S-App. at 000013-14 (Cir. Ct. Class Certification Decision).

⁴ S-App. at 000016.

⁵ S-App. at 000020.

because they have responsibilities such as the need for vigilance on the premises of a prison).⁶

Of course, ample record evidence supported the Circuit Court's conclusion, including sworn testimony by Brian Foster, the WDC's Security Chief, that all preand post-shift activities required of officers are "absolutely necessary" for the officers to do their jobs,⁷. Officers must also remain "vigilan[t]" on-premises, even outside of the time of their specific shift and/or prior to passing through security.⁸

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