Filed 07-26-2024

FILED 07-26-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

No. 2022AP1759

NICOLE MCDANIEL, DAVID SMITH, and MATTHEW DAVIS,

Plaintiffs-Respondents-Petitioners,

v.

WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS,

Defendant-Appellant.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

STEVEN C. KILPATRICK Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1025452

KARLA Z. KECKHAVER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1028242

CLAYTON P. KAWSKI Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1066228

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

Neither the U.S. Supreme Court, other federal courts, and Wisconsin courts recognize security screening and walking to and from a post as compensable points that begin and end the workday. The U.S. Supreme Court has held that being subjected to security screenings upon exiting is not a principal activity compensable under the Fair Labor Standards Act. Other federal courts have properly applied that holding to prison guards entering prisons. And the law is clear that passing through security screenings and merely walking within a workplace are not compensable activities that are "integral" and "indispensable" to the guards' principal activities.

As the court of appeals recognized, because Petitioners' legal theories for compensation are squarely barred, they cannot form the basis of the commonality and typicality factors for class certification. Wis. Stat. § 803.08(1)(b)–(c). The court of appeals correctly held that the class should not have been certified.

Petitioners offer no reason for this Court's consideration that meet the criteria for review. They argue that the court of appeals erred, but that is not a sufficient reason for granting the petition. Their claim that the court of appeals' decision is "contrary to settled law" ignores on-point case law. And they complain that the court of appeals improperly reached the merits of the case, but case law holds that the merits sometimes overlap with the factors in considering whether to certify a class, and this is one of those times.

In addition, as DOC explained in the court of appeals, Petitioners failed to meet other factors of class certification, especially the predominancy and superiority requirements of a class action. The court of appeals did not need to reach those issues, but they would be other reasons why the court of appeals decision was correct.

This Court should deny the petition for review.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Only principal activities are compensable under wage laws.

Wisconsin Admin. Code DWD § 272.12 limits compensable work to the time employees spend during the workday undertaking "principal" activities, including those tasks that are an "integral part of a principal activity." Wis. Admin. Code DWD § 272.12(1), (2)(e). "Among the activities included as an integral part of the principal activity are those closely related activities which are indispensable to its performance." DWD § 272.12(2)(e)1.c.

Activities that are "preliminary" and "postliminary" to the workday are not ordinarily principal activities: "[A]ctivities such as checking in and out and waiting in line to do so would not ordinarily be regarded as integral parts of the principal activity or activities." DWD § 272.12(2)(e)1.c.

In construing the state regulation, courts look to federal regulations under the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA). That is because state law is "substantively similar to federal regulations addressing the phrase 'principal activity or activities" under the FLSA, as amended by the Portal-to-Portal Act. See United Food & Com. Workers Union, Loc. 1473 v. Hormel Foods Corp., 2016 WI 13, ¶ 43 n.13, 367 Wis. 2d 131, 876 N.W.2d 99. Because the Wisconsin regulations mimic the "principal activities" under the FLSA, federal case law can "provide helpful insights" even though it is not binding. See *Kieninger v. Crown Equip. Corp.*, 2019 WI 27, ¶ 27, 386 Wis. 2d 1, 924 N.W.2d 172. Under federal law, "principal activities" means that preliminary and postliminary activities are only compensable if they are "integral and indispensable . . . to the productive work that the employee is employed to perform." Integrity Staffing Sols., Inc. v. Busk, 574 U.S. 27, 36 (2014). The U.S. Supreme Court has made clear that compensable preliminary and postliminary activities must "themselves" be "principal activities." IBP, Inc. v. Alvarez, 546 U.S. 21, 33 (2005).

The FLSA treats as non-compensable activities that "are preliminary to or postliminary to said principal activity or activities, which occur either prior to the time on any particular workday at which he ceases, such employee commences, or subsequent to the time on any particular workday at which he ceases, such principal activity or activities." 29 U.S.C. § 254(a)(2).

- II. Statement of relevant facts and procedural history.
 - A. DOC correctional officers work at various institutions, with differing security, post locations, and shift times, and arrive as early before a shift as they choose.

The putative class consists of approximately 5,000 DOC correctional officers and sergeants who work in 37 institutions located across the state, with different security levels and protocols. (R. 83:3–5.)

Guards arrive at the entryway of each prison before their scheduled shift at the time of their choosing. (R. 125:5, 7; 131:7–8; 184:3–4.) Like non-security personnel and visitors, they make themselves subject to a security screening, passing any personal belongings through an x-ray machine. (R. 125 ¶ 12; 85:12.)

By their shift start-time, guards must arrive at their designated post and be ready to assume their duties. (R. 87:31.) Posts are spread throughout each prison and range in distance from next to the entrance to the far side of the prison. (R. 131 ¶¶ 12–15; 125 ¶¶ 11–13.) Guards generally walk to their post location, and they are not compensated by DOC for this travel time. (R. 85:33–34.)

Post locations at or near a prison's entrance take a matter of seconds or a minute to reach. (See R. 131 ¶ 14; 125 ¶ 13; 152:16.) Posts at the far end of a prison may take up to 15 minutes or more to reach. (R. 152:16.)

Plaintiff Davis works as a transportation officer in the Wisconsin Resource Center, a unique facility run by the Department of Health Services. (R. 152:4.) He has a "very fluid position" with "no specific spot" to report to. (R. 152:4.) The only task he must do before getting into pay status is retrieve a key from a key watcher box in the lobby, which takes a matter of seconds. (R. 152:5, 10.) By contrast, Plaintiff McDaniel worked at a DOC maximum-security facility; she claimed it took approximately 30 minutes for her to get from the entrance to her post, in large part to the many secured doors that she had to travel through.¹ (R. 124:2.)

Guards are not always assigned to the same post. (R. 151:14, 17.) Walking time also depends on which shift a guard works. (R. 151:14.)

Once they are on post, guards do work including "actively supervising the inmates in [their assigned] area," ensuring inmates are fed and cared for, and maintaining security through cell and inmate searches. (R. 85:25; $125 \P\P 9-10; 131 \P\P 10-11.$)

Many officers leave their posts before the end of the shift. (R. 131 ¶ 19; 125 ¶ 18.)

B. Petitioners' expert claims he can produce representative damage calculations; Defendant's expert disagrees.

Both parties disclosed experts during discovery on class certification.

Petitioners offered a report authored by Dr. William Rogers. (R. 176.) Rogers claimed he could produce representative damages calculations that could be used on a class wide basis. (R. 176:2.) To arrive at these calculations, Rogers reviewed security video showing the entryways of three prisons from 60 minutes before and 30 minutes after shift change on three randomly selected days in January 2021. (R. 176:8.) Rogers then noted the time guards passed the entryways when they entered and exited the prisons. (R. 176:8.)

 $^{^1}$ Plaintiff Smith does not request appointment as a class representative. (See R. 82:1 n.1.)

The videos showed no area of the prisons other than the entryways, and Rogers did not track individual guards' movement. (R. 176:8.) Rogers observed only "clusters" of unidentified employees upon entry and exit. (R. 191:5.)

Using the video, Rogers calculated the amount of time between a guard's arrival at security and the start of a shift (e.g., 6 a.m., 2 p.m., and 10 p.m.) and between the end of a shift (e.g., 2 p.m., 10 p.m., and 6 a.m.) and exit. He assumed that these times equaled a guard's amount of pre- and post-shift activity, including walk time. (R. 176:8–10.) From this, he said he could calculate an average number of minutes spent on pre- and post-shift activities that would be extrapolated to each class member. (R. 176:8, 18.)

DOC offered a report authored by Dr. Ananth Seshadri, an economics professor at the University of Wisconsin-Madison. (R. 184.) Seshadri explained that Rogers overstated compensable time because his methodology in calculating time was flawed.

First, according to Seshadri, Rogers assumed that the guards' arrival at security starts their compensable workday, even though those arrival times are entirely dictated by the guards themselves. (R. 184:3–4.) Thus, there is no direct correlation between the amount of time from a guard's arrival at the front door to the start of a shift and the amount of time actually spent on pre-shift activities, like walking to post. (R. 184:3–4.)

Second, Seshadri opined that Rogers's calculated average was not reliable. Rogers made no attempt to explain why pre-shift time was much greater than post-shift time. (R. 184:4-5.)

Finally, Seshadri opined that assigning an average pre- and post-shift activity time to all officers working on a given shift in a given prison was arbitrary and did not result in a calculation for true compensable time for each officer. (R. 184:5–6.) This assignment of time discounted that, within each prison, some posts are geographically close to the entrance and others are far from the entrance. (R. 184:6.) Seshadri concluded that the method Rogers used to calculate the time spent class-wide was too highly unreliable to be of any use. (R. 184:6.)

C. Petitioners obtained class certification on the theories that being subjected to a security screening and walking through the prison are compensable activities.

In summer 2021, Petitioners moved for class certification after filing a second amended complaint. (R. 78, 81–82.) Their legal theory regarding common questions of law was that walking from entrance to post and back again was compensable. (R. 82:22–24; 105:3–4.)

In summer 2022, Petitioners filed an amended brief in support of their motion for class certification that included references to their expert's report on damages. (R. 179.) Petitioners' only legal theory was that guards engage in a compensable activity by vigilantly walking to and from the entrance of the prison and posts. (R. 179:6, 13, 15, 21, 25.)

After a DOC response (R. 182), on August 1, 2022, Petitioners filed a reply brief in which, for the first time, they raised the additional theory that going through a pre-shift security screening triggered the compensable workday. (R. 191:4.)

After oral argument, during which DOC asserted that Petitioners were too late to raise the security screening theory and DOC had been unable to address it in briefing (R. 195:23–24), the circuit court certified the class requested by Petitioners: All current and former non-exempt, hourly-paid [Department] employees who worked as security personnel in a correctional institution (including but not limited to Correctional Officers and Correctional Sergeants) in the State of Wisconsin at any time during the period starting two years before this action commenced through the date of judgment ("the Class Period").

(R. 197:1.)

The court granted the motion "because the core legal theory is sufficiently plausible for granting a motion for class certification motion." (R. 197:6.) The court addressed Petitioners' merits theory held that "[a]t this stage McDaniel has made a plausible argument that the tasks in question were integral and indispensable." (R. 197:8.) The court also accepted Rogers's averaging methodology and said that "[c]ourts have allowed representative evidence to be employed in order to fill evidentiary gaps." (R. 197:10.)

In October 2022, DOC timely filed a notice of appeal. (R. 201.)

D. The court of appeals reverses the circuit court order granting class certification.

The court of appeals issued a decision on May 15, 2024, reversing the circuit court's order. *McDaniel v. DOC*, 2022AP1759 (June 14, 2024) (per curiam) ("Slip Op."). The court held that Petitioners did not fulfill the commonality and typicality requirements of Wisconsin's class-action statute, Wis. Stat. § 803.08(1)(b)-(c).

Petitioners petitioned to this Court.

REASONS TO DENY THE PETITION

This Court should deny the petition because it does not meet the criteria for supreme court review. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r). First, Petitioners argue that the court of appeals "erred." However, that is not a proper reason for this Court to grant the petition since this Court is not an error-correcting court.

Second, Petitioners argue that the court of appeals improperly resolved disputed factual issues by reaching the merits of the case. Not so. The facts related to security screening and walking to and from post are not disputed. Petitioners' references to guards' other pre- and post-shift activities are a red herring.

Third, Petitioners complain that DOC and the court of appeals touched on the merits of their claims. But when the merits overlap with class certification, the merits are not off limits. This is especially true here given that Petitioners' expert report is based on their walking theory and Petitioners did not raise their security screening theory until a reply brief filed one year after the class certification motion. The court properly concluded, based on case law, that Petitioners' case could not go forward as a class action. Neither being subjected to a common, pre-shift security screening or walking within the workplace is a compensable principal activity and, thus, Petitioners could not represent a class with those claims.

Lastly, DOC also argued that Petitioners did not meet the predominancy and superiority requirements of the class action statute, and the court of appeals' decision can be affirmed on these alternative grounds.

I. Petitioners have not put forth a proper criterion for granting the petition.

"Supreme court review is a matter of judicial discretion, not of right, and will be granted only when special and important reasons are presented." Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r). While not controlling, this Court considers multiple criteria set forth in Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r) when reviewing the petition. The petition's main focus is arguing that the court of appeals' decision was erroneous. Petitioners' two issues both contend that the court of appeals "erred" and the petition argues that the court of appeals' decision was wrong. (E.g., Pet. v-vii.) This is not a criterion under Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r) warranting this Court's review. In contrast to the court of appeals, which is "an error-correcting court," the supreme court is a "is a law-making court." State v. Schumacher, 144 Wis. 2d 388, 398, 424 N.W.2d 672 (1988).

Petitioners also argue that the court of appeals' decision raises legal issues "of the type that [are] likely to recur unless resolved by the supreme court." (Pet. *viii*.) But this is not a criterion for review either. Under Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(c), this Court may grant a petition when a "decision by the supreme court will help develop, clarify or harmonize the law, *and* . . . [t]he question presented is not factual in nature but rather is a question of law of the type that is likely to recur unless resolved by the supreme court." Here, Petitioners completely fail to develop an argument that a decision by this Court will help "develop, clarify, or harmonize the law." That is not surprising, since Petitioners do not cite section 809.62(1r)(c) in their petition at all.

Petitioners further contend that their petition should be granted because the court of appeals' decision "contravenes settled law." (Pet. *viii*.) Although they cite Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(d), (*see* Pet. viii, 16), their argument does not support that criterion.

Wisconsin Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(d) states in full: "The court of appeals' decision is in conflict with controlling opinions of the United States Supreme Court or the supreme court or other court of appeals' decisions." Here, Petitioners do not assert that the court of appeals' decision conflicts with any decisions of this Court or any other court of appeals' decision. Instead, they point to the U.S. Supreme Court's decision, *Integrity Staffing*, 547 U.S. at 27. (Pet. 18–19.) But the court of appeals' decision does not conflict with *Integrity Staffing*.

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